
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Susan Gardner, Member Services (01254 380184) 
Email:   
Published on Tuesday, 29 January 2019 

Page 1 of 2  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Cabinet 
 
Wednesday, 6 February 2019 at 3.00 pm, 
Scaitcliffe House, Ormerod Street, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Miles Parkinson (in the Chair) 
 
Councillors Clare Cleary, Paul Cox, Munsif Dad, Gareth Molineux and Joyce Plummer 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

PART A: PROCEDURAL AND INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

3.   Minutes of Cabinet  (Pages 3 - 8) 
 
To approve the Minutes of the last meeting of Cabinet held on 9th January 2019. 
 

4.   Minutes of Boards, Panels and Working Groups  (Pages 9 - 14) 
 
To receive the Minutes of the meetings of the following Boards, Panels and Working 
Groups: 
 
Cabinet Street Naming Committee – 7th November 2018 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 2 

 

Regeneration and Housing Panel – 19th November 2018 
 

PART B: PORTFOLIO ITEMS 
 

5.   Reports of Cabinet Members   
 
To receive reports from Cabinet Members. 
 

Deputy Leader of the Council (Councillor Paul Cox) 
 

6.   Rhyddings Park Coach House Lease Update  (Pages 15 - 18) 
 
Report Attached. 
 

Portfolio Holder for Resources (Councillor Joyce Plummer) 
 

7.   Council Tax Empty Property Liability Report  (Pages 19 - 38) 
 
Report Attached. 
 

 
 



 
1 

 
CABINET 

 

 
Wednesday, 9th January, 2019 

 
Present:  Councillor Miles Parkinson (in the Chair), Councillors Paul Cox, 

Munsif Dad and Joyce Plummer 
 

In Attendance: Councillors Lisa Allen, Tony Dobson, June Harrison and Eamonn Higgins 

  

Apologies: Clare Cleary and Gareth Molineux 
 

 
259 Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies for absence were submitted from Councillors Clare Cleary and Gareth Molineux. 
 

260 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

261 Minutes of Cabinet 
 
The Minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 5th December 2018 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
The Deputy Leader of the Conservative Group asked what progress had been made in 
relation to minute 236 about the Town Centre Business and Marketing Co-ordinator. It was 
stated that a meeting had been arranged with the Town Centre Officer and Executive 
Director (Environment). 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 

record. 
 

262 Minutes of Boards, Panels and Working Groups 
 
No minutes were received from any boards, panels and working groups. 
 

263 Reports of Cabinet Members 
 
There were no reports provided by Cabinet Members present at the meeting. 
 

264 Council Tax Base 2019-2020 
 
The Leader of the Council submitted a report to inform Members of the Council Tax Base 
for the financial year 2019-2020.  
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
In accordance with Section 35 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, the Council  
was required to formally determine the Council Tax Base for 2019-2020 prior to 31st  

Page 3

Agenda Item 3.



 
 
 

 

 
 

January 2019. This allowed the Council to notify the major preceptors (Lancashire  
County Council, the Police and Crime Commissioner for Lancashire and Lancashire  
Combined Fire Authority) by the 31st January of the Council Tax Base. 
 
The requisite calculation (Appendices A and B) had to be carried out in accordance  
with the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 2012. Once  
determined the Council Tax Base cannot be changed and has to be used when the  
Council set their Council Tax for the financial year 2019-2020.  
 
The calculation of the Tax Base for Hyndburn and Altham for 2019-2020 was attached  
to the agenda report.  It proposed that the Tax Base for Hyndburn 2019-2020 shall be  
20,934 This is an increase from last year’s Tax Base of 428 (20,506).  The 2019-2020  
Tax Base for Altham is 316, an increase from last year’s Tax Base of 2 (314). 
 
The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 2012 specify formulae 
for calculating the Council Tax Base which must be set between the 1st December 2018 
and the 31st January 2019. 

 
The Council Tax Base is the measure of the number of chargeable dwellings held on the 
valuation list as at the 10 September 2018 and then adjusted to take account of discounts, 
exemptions, re-bandings and Council Tax Support to arrive at the Authority’s Council Tax 
Band D. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection   
 
This is a statutory requirement, therefore no other options can be considered. 
 
A Customer First Analysis was attached at Appendix C to the report.   

Resolved (1) That the report be approved;  

 (2) That in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Calculation of Tax Base) Regulations 2012, the amount 
calculated by the Council as its Council Tax Base for 
the financial year 2019/2020 be 20,934;  and,  

 (3) That in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Calculation of Tax Base) Regulations 2012, the amount 
calculated by the Council for its Council Tax Base for 
the Parish of Altham for the financial year 2019/2020 be 
316. 

 
265 Housing and Economic Needs Assessment 

 
The Leader of the Council submitted a report to notify Cabinet of the completion of a  
key part of the evidence base for the new Local Plan, the Housing and Economic  
Needs Assessment (HENA), and to inform Cabinet of the key findings of the study. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 

  
The new Local Plan for Hyndburn was in preparation, and the Council was scheduled to 
commence a public consultation on it in February 2019. Separate papers would be brought 
to the February Cabinet meeting providing details of the proposed consultation material, 
and seeking approval to commence consultation.  

Page 4



 
 
 

 

 
 

 
The public consultation would include draft proposed planning policies recommending 
appropriate levels of housing growth and employment growth to plan for in the Borough to 
2036. It will also consider the broad distribution of growth across settlements in the 
Borough. These policies will be detailed within the Core Strategy Review DPD. It will also 
present some initial site assessment information on a large pool of potential development 
sites referred to as the ‘long list of sites’. It is from these that the most suitable parcels of 
land will be taken forward in the Site Allocations DPD (part of the Local Plan) for formal 
allocation. Sufficient sites will need to be allocated to meet the growth for housing and 
employment set out in the Core Strategy Review DPD policies. 

 
In support of development of the draft policies for the Core Strategy Review, in July 2018 
the Council commissioned consultants GL Hearn to update the evidence base on housing 
and economic needs in the Borough over the plan period (2016-2036). This work has now 
been completed and is referred to as a Housing and Economic Needs Assessment (HENA). 
The study had been undertaken for the joint housing market area covering both Blackburn 
with Darwen and Hyndburn local authority areas, and builds on previous joint working 
undertaken through the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (in 2014). 

 
The HENA study looked at housing need through analysis of demographics, market signals 
and economic forecasting. It looks at the need for general market housing, as well as 
affordable housing, older persons’ needs, and the appropriate housing mix to plan for by 
tenure. These are requirements set out by the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
and matters that the Government expects to see addressed through local planning policies 
in development plans. 

 
The HENA study also considered employment forecasts for the Borough. It begins by 
considering likely job growth under an economic baseline scenario derived from national 
economic forecasts. It goes on to set out what it considers and justifies as a local ‘economic 
growth scenario’ and provides forecast growth figures for that. The study concludes by 
considering the link between planning for future employment and housing growth, making 
recommendations for both in terms of the quantum of land required for allocation in the 
Local Plan. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection   
 
The HENA was part of the evidence base that the Council had prepared in support of its 
new Local Plan. The findings of the HENA, alongside other relevant considerations, will 
now be used to help draft Core Strategy policies for public consultation. The commission of 
the HENA was made to ensure that the emerging Hyndburn Local Plan was produced in 
accordance with Government Planning Practice Guidance, which requires plans to be 
based on up-to-date, robust evidence. The Local Plan would not be capable of passing the 
scrutiny of local communities and key stakeholders, nor successful Examination in Public, 
without robust and up-to-date evidence on the key matters of housing and economic 
growth. 

Resolved  That Cabinet noted the findings of the HENA study and 
implications for planning policy in the emerging Local 
Plan. 

 
266 Financial Position November 2018- Report for the Year Ending 31st March 2019 

 
The following item was submitted as urgent business with the Chair’s agreement in 
accordance with Section 100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the reason being to 
ensure the latest up to date financial information was included in the report. 

Page 5



 
 
 

 

 
 

 
The Portfolio Holder for Resources submitted a report to inform Cabinet on the financial 
spending of the Council up to the end of November 2018 and the financial forecast outturn 
position for the Accounting Year 2018/19. 
 
Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The financial details of the report was shown as a table at the end of the report. 

 
The spend for the first eight months of the financial year to the end of November 2018 was 
£7,030,241 compared to a Budget of £7,041,271 giving a small positive variance of £11,000 
over the first eight months of the year. 

 
The current forecast spend to the end of the financial year in March 2019 was £11,098,000 
compared to a Budget of £11,174,000.  This forecast produces a positive variance of 
£76,000.  Culture & Leisure Services, Parks & Cemeteries and Planning & Transportation 
were all predicting small adverse variance.  There were more significant adverse variances 
on Town Centre & Markets and Policy & Corporate Governance. All other Budget Areas are 
predicting a surplus position compared to their Budget by the year end. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection   
 
Not applicable.   
 
Resolved - That Cabinet noted the report and asked that the 

Corporate Management Team continue to reduce costs 
and increase income over the remainder of the year to 
help improve the overall financial position of the 
Council.  

 
267 Hyndburn Leisure Financial Support 

 
Exclusion of the Public 

Resolved - That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during the following item, when it was likely, in 
view of the nature of the proceedings that there would 
otherwise be disclosure of exempt information within 
the Paragraph at Schedule 12A of the Act specified at 
the item. 

 
The following item was submitted as urgent business with the Chair’s agreement in 
accordance with Section 100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the reason being to 
ensure the latest up to date financial information was included in the report. 
 
Exempt Information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 3 – 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information) 
 
The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Resources submitted an exempt report to inform Cabinet of 
a request for financial assistance from Hyndburn Leisure. 
 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
 

Approval of the report was not deemed a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the exempt 
report. 

Resolved  - That the recommendations as set out in the report be 
approved. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
CABINET COMMITTEE (STREET NAMING) 

 

 
Wednesday, 7th November, 2018 

 
Present:  
 
 
In Attendance: 

Councillor Gareth Molineux (in the Chair),  
Councillors Paul Cox and Miles Parkinson 
 
Councillor Sara Britcliffe 
 

Apologies Judith Addison, Clare Cleary and Munsif Dad 

  

 
205 Apologies for absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 

 
Absence for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Judith Addison, Clare Cleary 
and Munsif Dad. 
 
Councillors Sara Britcliffe, Paul Cox and Miles Parkinson acted as substitute 
representatives for Councillors Addison, Cleary and Dad.   
 
There were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations.  
 

206 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 
The Minutes of the Cabinet Committee- Street Naming held on the 18th June 2018 were 
submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct  

record. 
 

207 Street Naming Proposal - Rhoden Road, Oswaldtwistle 
 
The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report to seek approval for the 
naming of a Street for a new-build residential development located off Rhoden Road, 
Oswaldtwistle. 
 
Two Oswaldtwistle ward Councillors had been involved in discussions related to the street 
naming and were in support of the application which was attached to the agenda. 
 
Resolved - That the street name (Brear Vale) be named as per the  

Officer’s recommendation in the report.  
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 9

Agenda Item 4.



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 

 
1 

 
REGENERATION AND HOUSING PANEL 

 

 
Monday, 19th November, 2018 

 
Present:  Councillor Joyce Plummer (in the Chair), Councillors Jean Battle, 

Tony Dobson, Stewart Eaves, June Harrison and Dave Parkins 
 

Apologies Clare Cleary 

  

 
22 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 

 
An apology for absence was submitted on behalf of Councillor Cleary.  There were no 
substitutions. 
 

23 Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest submitted at the meeting. 
 

24 Minutes of Last Meeting held on 17th September 2018 
 
The minutes of the last meeting of the Regeneration and Housing Panel held on 17th 
September 2018 were submitted for approval as a correct record. 
 
Agreed - That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 

record. 
 

25 Regeneration and Housing Capital Programme 
 
The Regeneration Manager submitted a report on the progress with the 2018/19 
Regeneration and Housing Capital Programme.  She explained how the Programme had 
been prioritised with the new Town Square a priority due to external funding which could be 
clawed back if not spent.  She also explained that Disabled Facility Grant work had been 
prioritised because of its statutory nature.   
 
Members were informed that the Regeneration and Housing Capital Programme had been 
funded at a cost of almost £5 million for 2018/19 and referred Members to appendix 1 for 
further details.  She explained that it was anticipated that some projects would slip in 
2019/20 due to a lack of staff resources and a need to address significant health and safety 
risks associated with Council owned buildings.      
 
Councillor Battle expressed concern that some residents had not been able to access 
Disabled Facility Grants because they were means tested and did not qualify.  She 
suggested that Council wrote to the Government to ask for rules to be relaxed to allow 
those in need to apply for grants and allow Council’s to use the funding provided.   
 
The Regeneration Manager explained how applicants could apply for Disabled Facility 
Grants and confirmed the Grants were subject to legislation and Government regulations.   
 
Councillor Dobson suggested that consideration was given to ways of speeding up 
responses to applications for adaptations and requested that all Panel Members were 
provided with a list of criteria for applicants wanting adaptations.   

Page 11



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing informed Members that the Council was receiving 
additional funding for Disabled Facility Grants and there was a need to get the message to 
potentially eligible people.  He agreed with Councillor Battle that if the Council is given more 
flexibility the Council would be able to help more disabled people.  He agreed for a separate 
item on Disabled Facilities Grants eligibility and finance at the next meeting of the Panel. 
 
Agreed (1) That an item on Disabled Facilities Grant Eligibility and 

finance be placed on the agenda for the next meeting of 
the Panel; and  

 (2)  That Panel members be provided with a copy of the 
criteria of eligibility for Disabled Facility Grant 
applications. 

 
26 Housing and Environmental Standards 

 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing advised the Panel on a report submitted by the 
Environmental Protection Manager to update Members on actions taken by the 
Environmental Protection Team in relation to Land & Buildings that are detrimental to the 
amenity of the area and/or causing a public health nuisance, during the two month period 
from 1 September to 31 October 2018.   
 
Councillor Battle referred to the continued poor condition of Hargreaves Warehouse and 
was informed that a pre-action letter was in the process of being sent out.   
 
Councillor Parkins indicated that he had been on visits to a number of properties dealt with 
by the Environmental Protection Team and acknowledged the standard of their work and 
requested that Members’ gratitude was passed onto the team. 
 
Agreed (1) That the report be noted; and 
 (2) That Members’ gratitude be passed onto the 

Environmental Protection Team for their ongoing good 
work. 

 
27 Homelessness Update 

 
The Housing Advice and Homelessness Manager submitted a report to update and brief 
Members of the Panel on the current activity in relation to homelessness in Hyndburn.  He 
explained that the Homelessness Reduction Act had been brought in in April 2018 and this 
had changed the way local authorities were required to deal with homelessness and he 
outlined the changes.  He pointed out that this had meant a closer working relationship with 
public and voluntary organisations and from 1st October 2018 organisations had a ‘Duty to 
Refer’ which meant that any public sector organisation were required to refer a person(s) 
threatened with homelessness to the their local authority.   
 
Councillor Battle asked what the general themes for homelessness were.  The Housing 
Advice and Homelessness Manager reported that these mainly tended to be relationship 
breakdowns and debt.  He reported that since April 2018 over 500 people had completed 
the portal and one third of these had been taken on as homeless.  He reported that many of 
those completing the portal had not been homeless and had since been referred on to the 
appropriate organisation.  He reported that there had been an increase in the number of 
rough sleepers in other local authorities and that there was an expected rise in Hyndburn; 
but clarifying that the numbers of rough sleeping in Hyndburn remained low.  He reported 
that problems with Universal Credit had been found to have been a cause of increasing 

Page 12



 
 
 

 

 
3 

homelessness mainly due to a lack of access to online services to make applications.  He 
reported that the strategy for applying was due to be reviewed in 2019.   
 
Agreed - That the report be noted. 
 

28 Huncoat 
 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing gave a presentation on the development of 
Huncoat.   He reported that housing and employment growth were central to Hyndburn’s 
new Corporate Strategy.  He reported on the vision for the Huncoat Garden Village project 
and developing the masterplan and delivery strategy, timescales and steps involved in 
developing this.   
 
He reported that Huncoat could deliver up to 2000 new homes due to two strategic sites 
within the location and due to good transport connections to major road routes and rail 
services.  He referred to a quote from Sir Ebenezer Howard OBE defining Garden Villages 
stressing that Huncoat Garden Village would be holistically planned as per the guidance 
principles for garden towns and villages. 
 
He reported that Arcadis and GVA had been appointed to support the Council developing 
the masterplan and delivery strategy.  He reported that stage one of the masterplan had 
been completed and that stage two should be finished by January 2019 and the masterplan 
was due to be finished by April 2019.     
 
Members indicated that the development would require a major link road and pointed out 
that it would be disaster without it.  The Head of Regeneration and Housing advised that 
such a road was under consideration as part of the emerging masterplan.   
 
The Head of Regeneration and Housing confirmed the aspiration of modern, futuristic 
housing being considered for the area and the vision for the future of Huncoat.  Members 
were advised on delivery options and informed that governance of this was driven by a 
Steering Group led by Cabinet and key consultation groups.  He explained that the 
development would be likely to start in 2022, although one land owner developer was keen 
to start in 2020. 
 
Councillor Dobson questioned the amount of greenbelt being lost and the impact of 2000 
houses in the environment.  The Head of Regeneration and Housing advised that some 
green belt may be lost.  He also reminded Members that the development was about 
aspiration and growth and a need for progress in the borough.  Councillor Dobson 
expressed concern about the improvements being made in one part of the borough having 
a negative effect on another part of the borough.  The Head of Regeneration and Housing 
recognised that there was an important issue which had to be balanced against the 
importance of providing housing and employment which would help retain the borough’s 
population or attract new people to the borough.   
 
Agreed - That the report be noted. 
 
 

29 Urgent Business 
 
There was no urgent business. 
 

30 The Time and Date of Future Meetings 
 
The date of the next meeting was confirmed to be Monday 14th January 2018. 

Page 13



 
 
 

 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 14



Page 1 of 3 
 

 AGENDA ITEM X           

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 6 February 2019 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Paul Cox – Environmental Services 

REPORT AUTHOR: Craig Haraben (Deputy Head of Environmental 
Services) 

TITLE OF REPORT: Café Operation at the Coach House building in 
Rhyddings Park in Oswaldtwistle 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To seek approval from Cabinet for The Friends of (FO) Rhyddings Park to operate the 

café in the Coach House building in Rhyddings Park. 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 Cabinet agrees to vary an original lease condition and permit FO Rhyddings Park in 

such legal capacity as they consider appropriate to operate the café in the Coach 
House building in Rhyddings Park. 

2.2 Cabinet delegates authority to the Head of Housing & Regeneration in consultation 
with Portfolio Holder and Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) to agree 
the terms of the lease and complete with the FO Rhyddings Park. 

  
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 One of the Rhyddings Park project outcomes agreed with the Heritage Lottery Fund is 

to use the Coach House building as meeting rooms, a cafe and a training kitchen.  
 
3.2 At Cabinet which took place on 18 July 2018 Cabinet agreed to lease the Coach 

House building in Rhyddings Park to the FO Rhyddings Park.   
  
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6.



Page 2 of 3 
 

3.3 Members were previously advised that Bootstrap Enterprises would run the café at the 
Coach House in Rhyddings Park with the intention that the Friends of Rhyddings Park 
would sublet that part of the Coach House to this local charity. Unfortunately the grant 
funding opportunities for Bootstrap Enterprises have changed and they are currently 
not in a position to run the café in the Coach House building. 

 
3.4 The FO Rhyddings Park have been operating the café for events and on Saturday and 

Sunday mornings on license. This has proved a real success and the FO Rhyddings 
Park have proposed they run the café on allocated days during the week instead of 
Bootstrap Enterprises. 

 
3.5 The FO Rhyddings Park is a registered charitable incorporated organisation but it is 

possible that they may create a new social enterprise company for the purpose of 
running the café.   

 
3.6 Members of FO Rhyddings Park have undertaken food hygiene training, have 

appropriate food safety management systems in place and been awarded a 5 star 
rating by the Councils Food & Safety team, so are seen as a suitable organisation to 
run the café going forward.  

 
3.7 The intention is that all profit derived from the café operation will be used by the FO 

Rhyddings Park for the betterment of the use of the Coach House building and/or Park. 
This profit may be used to help fund events in Rhyddings Park, FO Rhyddings Park 
activities, and not necessarily maintenance or running costs of the building and/or park.  

  
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 Do not permit the FO Rhyddings Park to run the café in the Coach House building. 

This is not recommended as it is a key requirement of the HLF project for Rhyddings 
Park and the FO Rhyddings Park already operate the café at weekends and for events. 

 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 FO Rhyddings Park, Portfolio Holder, Estates, Legal Services and Parks & Cemetery 

service have been consulted in relation to this project. 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

The costs of maintaining and insuring the building 
together with the costs of any outgoings will fall to the 
Council (as outlined in the Cabinet approval dated 18 
July 2018). Income and profit from the café will not 
necessarily be used to offset these costs. 
 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

There are no new legal implications in addition to those 
outlined in the report dated 18 July 2018.  
 
 

Page 16



Page 3 of 3 
 

Assessment of risk 
 

Permitting to FO Rhyddings Park to run the café during 
the week instead of Bootstrap Enterprises is seen as 
low risk. The FO Rhyddings Park currently operate the 
café for events and at weekends. In addition the FO 
Rhyddings Park has the appropriate food safety 
management systems which has been assessed by the 
Councils Food & Safety team and given a 5 star rating. 
  

Equality and diversity 
implications 
 

 
N/A 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Cabinet Report dated 18 July 2018 titled Lease of the Coach House building at 

Rhyddings Park in Oswaldtwistle 
 
7.2 Cabinet report dated 20 July 2016 titled Rhyddings Park Heritage Lottery Bid 
 
7.3 Cabinet report dated 8 June 2016 titled Rhyddings Park Heritage Lottery Bid 
 
7.4 Cabinet report dated 3 December 2013 titled Rhyddings Park Heritage Lottery Bid 
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972; 

Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
Act 2000. 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 06 February 2019 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer - Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Rachael Walker, Customer Contact Manager 

TITLE OF REPORT: Council Tax Empty Property Liability 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
                                                                    
1.       Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 The Report seeks to further the Council’s strategy to improve its housing stock and the 

regeneration of Hyndburn by adopting new Government provisions on premium rates of 
Council Tax for properties that are left vacant for over two years.  

 
2.       Recommendations  
 
2.1      That the Council Tax Empty Property Liability Policy attached to this report is  approved and 

that empty property premiums are introduced incrementally from April 2019 to April 2021 as 
set out in paragraphs 3.10 – 3.12 of this report in accordance with provisions in The Rating 
(Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 2018. 

 
3.      Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 The national problem of a housing shortage and many existing properties that are empty is 

well documented.  Hyndburn has historically suffered from a higher than normal percentage 
of empty properties, many are left vacant for long periods and blight their neighbourhoods.  
The Council has attempted to address the number of empty properties for a considerable 
time as part of its efforts to regenerate Hyndburn and provide better places to live.  The 
Council welcomed and acted upon the Government’s initial introduction of a premium on 
Council Tax in 2013 for long term empty properties as a means of encouraging their 
occupation.  While the initial Government legislation that took effect in 2013 has helped 
reduce the number of empty properties, there are still over 1000 empty properties that 
remain in Hyndburn that cause damage to our housing market and neighbourhoods.  The 
Council is therefore proposing to introduce the new Government rules fully, to further help 
reduce the overall number of empty properties. 

 
3.2 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 granted local authorities greater flexibility over 

certain Council Tax discounts and exemptions from April 2013.  In January 2013, Cabinet 
approved the Council’s proposal to implement changes to empty property discounts and 
changes were made to the following percentage rates of normal Council Tax liability: 

 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7.



 

2 
 

 
Table 1 – Empty Property Liabilities Implemented in 2013 

 

Properties which are empty and substantially unfurnished 

  Pre-2013 From April 2013 

Up to 6 months 0% 50%  

From 6 months to 2 years 50% 100%  

From 2 years 50% 150%  

Properties which are empty and in need of or undergoing major repair 

 Pre-2013 From April 2013 

Up to 12 months 0% 50%  

From 12 months to 2 years 50% 100%  

From 2 years 50% 150%  

 
3.3 Owners of properties being actively marketed for sale or rent can apply to have the 

premium rate reduced to 100% of normal Council Tax liability.  
 
3.4 Since 2013, the number of properties in the Borough classified as empty and unfurnished 

for Council Tax purposes on 1st April each year has reduced as outlined in Table 2 below.  
It should be noted that these figures represent those dwellings subject to former Class C 
empty and unfurnished discounts, not all empty dwellings in the Borough.  Other empty 
properties include those undergoing major repairs and those subject to other exemptions. 

 
3.5 Table 2 – Council Tax Empty Properties from 2012/13 to 2018/19 

Financial Year 0-6months 6-24 months 24+months Total 

2012/13 746         1275*  - 2021 

2013/14 593 751 593 1937 

2014/15 596 609 368 1573 

2015/16 576 523 357 1456 

2016/17 585 399 278 1262 

2017/18 437 553 252 1242 

2018/19 432 486 276 1194 
*24+ month premium category was not introduced until 2013/14 and so this figure is 
all properties empty for more than 6 months on 1 April 2012. 

 
3.6 The measures introduced to incentivise re-occupation or sale of empty property have been 

combined with other regeneration efforts, the work of the Council’s empty properties officer 
and work to survey and monitor empty properties each year since 2013.   
 

3.7 Overall, the implementation of the Council Tax premium on empty properties can be said to 
have had a positive impact on the number of empty dwellings in the Borough, has 
supported our regeneration efforts and helped to increase the Council’s New Homes Bonus 
allocations. 
 
New Legislation 

 
3.8 From April 2019, The Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty 

Dwellings) Act 2018 amends section 11B of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and 
grants local authorities the discretion to increase Council Tax premiums on empty dwellings 
over the course of three financial years from 2019/20 to 2021/22. 
 

Page 20



 

3 
 

3.9 The new legislation provides a ceiling on the applicable premium and incremental 
implementation as follows: 
 

3.10 Table 3 Empty Property Charges 2019/20 

  Amount as % of normal liability 

Duration Pre 2019 From 2019 

From 2 years 150% 200% 

 
3.11 Table 4 Empty Property Charges 2020/21 

  Amount as % of normal liability 

Duration Pre 2019 From 2020 

From 2 years 150% 200% 

From 5 years  150% 300% 

 
3.12 Table 5 Empty Property Charges 2021/22 

  Amount as % of normal liability 

Duration Pre 2019 From 2021 

From 2 years 150% 200% 

From 5 years to 10 years  150% 300% 

From 10 years 150% 400% 

 
3.13 The increased premiums that apply from April 2019 may apply to any empty property which 

became empty at any time; the date of last occupation does not have to fall within the 
period of the amended premiums and as such some currently empty properties will fall into 
the increased premium categories immediately. 

 
3.14 Table 6 provides charges for all Council Tax bands based on 2018/19 Council Tax rates if 

the increased premiums were applied today. 
 
3.15 Table 6 – Illustration of Increased Premiums 

Band 
100% 

liability 
150% 

liability 
200% 

liability 
300% 

liability 
400% 

liability 

A £1,186.91 £1,780.37 £2,373.82 £3,560.73 £4,747.64 

B £1,384.73 £2,077.10 £2,769.46 £4,154.19 £5,538.92 

C £1,582.55 £2,373.83 £3,165.10 £4,747.65 £6,330.20 

D £1,780.35 £2,670.53 £3,560.70 £5,341.05 £7,121.40 

E £2,176.00 £3,264.00 £4,352.00 £6,528.00 £8,704.00 

F £2,571.63 £3,857.45 £5,143.26 £7,714.89 £10,286.52 

G £2,967.26 £4,450.89 £5,934.52 £8,901.78 £11,869.04 

H £3,560.70 £5,341.05 £7,121.40 £10,682.10 £14,242.80 

 
 

3.16 At the time of writing, there are 237 properties subject to the 150% Council Tax premium. 
Of those, 173 have been empty since 2015 which if they remain unoccupied will be subject 
to a maximum 300% Council Tax liability in 2020/21 if these measures are introduced. 142 
(83%) are in Band A with 16 properties in Band B and 15 in Bands C – G. 
 

3.17 Currently there are 64 properties which have been empty since 2011, which if they remain 
unoccupied will be subject to a maximum 400% Council Tax liability in 2021 if these 
measures are introduced.  Of these properties 54 (84%) are in Band A with 10 properties in 
Bands B – G. 

Page 21



 

4 
 

 
Implementation 
 

3.18 Should these measures be implemented, the Council is required to publish its intentions in 
at least one local newspaper at least 21 days prior to implementation.   

 
3.19 Should the premiums be increased, it is the service’s intention to write to all owners of 

empty properties to inform them of the increased premiums and the timescale for 
implementation, allowing them the opportunity to sell or occupy any empty properties they 
may have prior to any further premiums being applied. 

 
4.      Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1     Do nothing 
 The new legislation provides local authorities with the discretionary power to apply 

premiums to empty properties and there remains the option to retain the premium levels we 
currently apply or delay the implementation of further premiums. 

 
4.2 Alternative premium levels 

The new legislation allows local authorities to apply premiums up to the maximum levels 
outlined in tables 3 to 5 and lower premiums within these limits can be applied.    
 

4.3 Having considered the positive contribution that the existing premium has made towards 
bringing empty properties back in to use, this report recommends that the new premium 
structure is applied in full up to the maximum levels.  Provisions remain within existing 
policy and legislation to lower the premiums if properties are being actively marketed for 
sale or rent as well as discretionary powers to remit Council Tax liabilities in extenuating 
circumstances.  

 
5.      Consultations 
 
5.1     Public consultation was conducted in 2013 as part of the implementation of the existing 

premium structure.  This is not a legislative requirement and the responses demonstrated 
little support from owners of empty properties but more support from the wider community.  
Similar consultations conducted by the Council for Selective Licensing demonstrated public 
approval for bringing empty properties back in to use and as such no further public 
consultation is intended for this policy. 

 
5.2 Consultation has taken place with colleagues in Regeneration, Selective Licensing and 

Legal Services.    
 
6.      Implications 
 

Financial implications 
(including any future financial 
commitments for the Council) 
 

The implementation of Council Tax 
premiums is intended to have a financial 
impact on owners of empty properties in 
order to incentivise regeneration.  There 
are provisions to remit the premium in 
extenuating circumstances and 
provisions to support efforts to reoccupy 
during advertising periods.  Other 
Council Tax discounts may be available 
such as when properties are being 

Page 22



 

5 
 

renovated and owners of empty 
properties will be given prior notice of 
increased premiums coming into force 
from 2019.   
 
The premiums will increase the Council’s 
net collectible debit for Council Tax and 
the proportionately large amounts have 
potential to affect the collection rates we 
are working towards.  However the 
majority of taxpayers subject to current 
premiums are making their payments 
and the amount collected from Council 
Tax is likely to increase as a result. 
 
 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

The administration of Council Tax is 
done within legislative frameworks and 
guidance.  Any and all legal and human 
rights implications have been considered 
and balanced against the rights of the 
individual and the obligations placed on 
the authority for the collection of local 
taxes.  The protection of vulnerable 
groups and individuals has been 
considered extensively as have the 
rights of our residents and customers.  
Legal implications and human rights 
have been considered at each stage and 
the policy intentions within this report are 
considered proportionate and justifiable 
when balanced against the rights of the 
individual. 

Assessment of risk 
 

Analysis to date demonstrates that the 
current premium structure has had a 
positive impact on the number of empty 
dwellings in the Borough and the 
intention of this policy is to further reduce 
these figures bringing positive impacts to 
areas blighted by empty properties.  Not 
implementing premiums increases the 
risk to neighbourhoods with empty 
properties. 

Equality and diversity 
implications 
A Customer First Analysis should 
be completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached 
as an appendix to the report.  

The Council is subject to the public 
sector equality duty introduced by the 
Equality Act 2010. When making a 
decision in respect of the 
recommendations in this report Cabinet 
must have regard to the need to: 

• eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation; and 

• advance equality of opportunity 

Page 23



 

6 
 

between those who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those 
who don’t; and 

• foster good relations between those 
who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who don’t. 

For these purposes the relevant 
protected characteristics are: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, 
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex and sexual orientation. To 
assist the Cabinet in this regard a 
Customer First Analysis has been 
carried out and is presented with this 
report. Cabinet is advised to consider 
the Customer First Analysis and 
associated obligations in respect of the 
public sector equality duty when making 
a decision in respect of the 
recommendations contained in this 
report.  

 
 

 
 
7.      Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1     Technical Reforms of Council Tax – Empty Dwellings and Second Homes, Cabinet report, 

January 2013. Available from Member Services on request. 
 
 
Appendices 
 

1. Council Tax Empty Property Liability policy 
2. Council Tax Empty Premium Reduction Application form 
3. Council Tax ‘Major repairs’ Application form 
4. Customer First Analysis 
 
  

Page 24



 

7 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Council Tax  

Empty Property Liability 

April 2019  

1. Introduction 

1.1 In April 2013, billing authorities in England were given discretion over the discounts applied 
to empty properties which are substantially unfurnished, properties which are vacant and 
undergoing major repair work or structural alteration and second homes. 

 
1.2 From 1 April 2013, local authorities in England were also able to set an empty homes 

premium for long-term empty properties which have been empty and substantially 
unfurnished for more than two years.  This premium could be up to 50% of a standard 
Council Tax liability, increasing the overall bill to 150% of a standard bill. 

 
1.3 From April 2019, local authorities have been given further discretion to increase the premium 

applied to long term empty homes.   

2.  Empty Property Liability 

2.1 From April 2019, The Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty 
Dwellings) Act 2018 amends section 11B of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 to allow 
the following premiums to apply: 

 
2.2 Between 1 April 2013 and 31st March 2019, domestic properties in Hyndburn which were 

unoccupied and substantially unfurnished were billed according to Table 1: 

Table 1 – empty property charges from 2013 - 2019 

Duration Amount 

Up to 6 months 50% of normal liability 

From 6 months to 24 months 100% of normal liability 

From 24 months 150% of normal liability 

 

2.3 From 1st April 2019 to 31st March 2020, domestic properties which are unoccupied and 
substantially unfurnished will be billed according to Table 2: 

Table 2 – empty property charges 2019 - 2020 

 Duration Amount 

Up to 6 months 50% of normal liability 

From 6 months to 2 years 100% of normal liability 

From 2 years 200% of normal liability 

Page 25



 

8 
 

 

2.4 From 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021, domestic properties which are unoccupied and 
substantially unfurnished will be billed according to Table 3: 

Table 3 – empty property charges 2020-2021 

 Duration Amount 

Up to 6 months 50% of normal liability 

From 6 months to 2 years 100% of normal liability 

From 2 years to 5 years 200% of normal liability 

From 5 years 300% of normal liability 

 

2.5 From 1st April 2021 onwards, domestic properties which are unoccupied and substantially 
unfurnished will be billed according to Table 4: 

Table 4 – empty property charges from 2021   

 Duration Amount 

Up to 6 months 50% of normal liability 

From 6 months to 2 years 100% of normal liability 

From 2 years to 5 years 200% of normal liability 

From 5 years to 10 years 300% of normal liability 

From 10 years 400% of normal liability 

 

2.6 The increased premiums that apply from April 2019 may apply to any empty property which 
became empty at any time; the date of last occupation does not have to fall within the period 
of the amended premiums and as such some empty properties will fall into the increased 
premium categories immediately. 

 
2.7 There is no statutory definition of ‘unoccupied and substantially unfurnished’.  Any taxpayer 

who believes that we have applied this definition incorrectly is encouraged to contact us to 
discuss this.  An officer or agent working on behalf of the Council may visit the property to 
determine to what degree a property is ‘unfurnished’.  For the purposes of this policy, 
‘unfurnished’ does not mean that the property must be completely emptied. 

How liability is applied 

2.8 Empty property liability is applied routinely as part of a change of liability either through 
ownership or tenancy.  Changes in liability can be applied over the phone, in writing or by 
email, or through the process of making the taxpayer liable elsewhere in Hyndburn. 

 
2.9 Similarly, ending an empty property liability period can be done as part of a standard change.  

Commonly, a property is bought but empty while it is being renovated and then occupied.  
This can be notified over the phone, in writing or by email. 

Relevant dates 

2.10 Properties are billed according to the overall empty period.  For Council Tax billing purposes, 
a property will be considered empty from the day following its last occupation, i.e. the day 
after the last resident(s) vacate the property.  If a property changes ownership during an 
empty period and the property remains empty, there will be no change to empty property 
liability.  This means that for properties which have been empty for more than two years, the 
premium rate may be payable by the new owners. 

 
2.11 New owners or liable parties will be granted the remainder of the 50% discount up to the end 

of the relevant six month period if the property has been empty for less than six months on 
the date it changes ownership or liability changes. 

Page 26



 

9 
 

Re-occupation 

2.12 Once a property becomes occupied, it is no longer considered ‘empty and substantially 
unfurnished’ and normal Council Tax liability will be applied.  Properties which become empty 
again after a period of 42 or more days of continuous occupation will have a new empty date 
applied and will be eligible for the 50% liability discount again. 

 
2.13 Properties which are occupied for a period of less than 42 days will not have a new empty 

date applied.  Council Tax empty property liability will continue to be applied from the original 
empty date and progression to the next stage of empty property liability will not be delayed by 
the period of occupation.  For the duration of occupation, the liable taxpayer(s) will be billed 
according to the daily charge for an occupied property. 

Empty property liability for tenants and landlords 

2.14 A standard assured shorthold tenancy gives a tenant an overriding material interest in a 
property up to the end of the fixed shorthold period of a tenancy.  Commonly this is six or 12 
months. 

 
2.15 In the case of unfurnished properties, if a tenant signs a tenancy for a property but does not 

move in to the property on the same date, the property will be classed as empty and 
unfurnished until the date they occupy or furnish the property.  In this case the tenant(s) will 
be made liable from the date the tenancy begins rather than the date they move in. 

 
2.16 If a tenant vacates the property and the property once again becomes unfurnished and the 

assured shorthold tenancy is still within a fixed period (whether the initial period or a renewed 
fixed period), the tenant will remain liable for the property until the end of the fixed period of 
the tenancy or until another taxpayer becomes liable as a result of a new tenancy, whichever 
date is first. 

 
2.17 Once an assured short hold tenancy is outside of the initial fixed period and the fixed period 

is not renewed, the tenancy normally becomes subject to a ‘rolling monthly contract’.  If the 
tenant vacates the property while in a ‘rolling monthly contract’, the tenant’s Council Tax 
liability will end on their last day of occupation and any empty period and/or further charges 
will become the liability of the landlord until a new tenant or owner becomes liable. 

 
2.18 It is important to note that Council Tax liability cannot be circumvented by a tenancy 

agreement and all liability applied by Hyndburn Borough Council is in accordance with 
legislation.  Contractual obligation to pay rent up to the end of a notice period does not mean 
that a tenant remains liable for Council Tax to the end of their notice period.  Access to a 
property for the duration of a notice period or a delay in returning keys to a landlord does not 
mean that a tenant will remain liable for Council Tax beyond their occupation of the property. 

 
2.19 Any disputes between landlords and tenants over liability dates will be dealt with on a case-

by-case basis.  Commonly, we will ask for evidence to support any liability claims such as 
copies of a tenancy agreement or evidence of Council Tax liability elsewhere if not within 
Hyndburn.   

Properties being marketed for sale or rent 

2.20 Hyndburn Borough Council may consider reducing the relevant premium applied to a 
property which has been empty for more than two years down to 100% of Council Tax liability 
if the property is being actively marketed for sale or rent. 

 
2.21 To apply for this discretionary reduction, the application form at appendix 1 should be 

completed and returned to us.   

Page 27



 

10 
 

 
2.22 We may consider a temporary reduction in the empty property premium if it is evident that the 

property is being actively and reasonably marketed for sale or rent.  This means that a 
property should be priced reasonably, be advertised regularly and measures such as 
reducing the asking price or changing estate agents will be applied or considered if the 
property has not sold or rented within a reasonable time.   

 
2.23 When assessing this discretionary discount, we will make enquiries about the property by 

contacting local agents and searching for the property on property websites.  We may visit 
properties and may assess the average house price (for sale and/or rent) and the average 
amount of time to sell or rent a property for the area. 

 
2.24 Discretionary reductions in the empty property premium will be applied for up to six months at 

a time and will be reassessed based on the same criteria if the property has not sold within 
that time.   

Second homes 

2.25 A second home is a property which is not the sole or main residence of any individual for 

Council Tax purposes.  If a property is empty but furnished and is not available to someone 

else to occupy, it may be classed as a second home.   

 
2.26 For the purposes of Council Tax, no discount is available for second homes in Hyndburn and 

100% of the Council Tax liability will be billed for the duration of the property’s designation as 

a second home.  If the property becomes unfurnished at any point, we may consider it newly 

‘empty and substantially unfurnished’ and if so may apply the empty property liability starting 

at 50% liability for six months. 

Properties exempt from empty property liability 

2.27 When devolving discretion for empty property charges to local authorities, the Government 
made two exceptions to the empty property liability charges: 

 
1. Properties which are empty due to the occupant living in armed forces accommodation 

or a residence provided for the residents for job-related purposes, 

2. Annexes being used as part of the main property. 

Properties undergoing or in need of major repair 

2.28 Properties which are empty and in need of, or undergoing major repair may have a 50% 
discount applied for up to 12 months.  For the purposes of this discount, the property must be 
uninhabitable in its current condition e.g. no bathroom or working kitchen, no electricity or 
running water, structural damage or open to the elements. 

 
2.29 Properties being renovated while occupied are not eligible for this discount.  Properties which 

are being renovated or modernised not involving major repairs are not normally eligible for 
this discount.   

 
2.30 The application form at appendix 2 can be used to apply for this discount.  Alternatively, this 

can be applied over the phone or by email. 
 
2.31 This discount is applied to the property and not to the taxpayer’s liability.  If a property is 

purchased and it has already had this discount applied to it, it will not normally be applied 
again for the new owner.   

Page 28



 

11 
 

 
2.32 If this discount has been applied to the property previously, it may be applied again if the 

property has been repaired but then damaged or has again fallen derelict within a reasonable 
amount of time.  What is considered to be a reasonable amount of time will vary and each 
application will be assessed on a case-by-case basis. 

 
2.33 This discount does not affect, delay or postpone the application of the standard empty 

property liability.  If at the end of this discount, the property remains empty and substantially 
unfurnished, the original empty date will be applied and Council Tax will be billed based on 
the total empty period.  This means that a property which has been empty for more than two 
years may have a 50% discount applied to it for 12 months (if applicable) but may then at the 
end of the 12 months be charged at relevant premium rate. 

Appeals against empty property liability 

2.34 If a taxpayer thinks that an empty property liability period has been applied incorrectly, they 
are encouraged to contact us so that the account can be reviewed and amended if 
appropriate. 

 
2.35 If, following a review of the account, the taxpayer wishes to dispute the empty property 

liability charge applied, they can contact the Valuation Tribunal who will assess and make an 
independent decision on the Council’s application of Council Tax liability.   

 

Other Council Tax discounts and exemptions 

2.36 Local discretion for empty property discounts and premiums do not affect any other statutory 
Council Tax exemption or discount. 

Billing, collection and recovery 

2.37 Standard billing, collection and recovery of Council Tax will be applied to all accounts during 
any period of empty property liability.  Details of our collection and recovery policy can be 
found at www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/counciltax  

3. Complaints 

3.1 Complaints about the handling of any account will be dealt with in accordance with the 
Council’s general complaint policy. 

4. Equality and diversity 

4.1 A Customer First Analysis accompanies this policy at appendix 3.  No adverse impact has 
been identified that may discriminate against any group with a protected characteristic as 
defined by the Equality Act 2010 and outlined in the Public Sector Equality Duty. 

5. Review/approval 

5.1 This policy will be reviewed annually and updated if required.   

6. Data protection 

 Details of our data privacy notice can be found at www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/privacy-notice  

Page 29



 

12 
 

7. Appendices 

1. Council Tax Empty Premium Reduction Application form 
2. Council Tax ‘Major repairs’ Application form 
3. Customer First Analysis 
 

Page 30



 

13 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Council Tax 
Premium Reduction 
Application Form  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 Council Tax Reference  

 Account holder’s name (s)  

 Address of the empty property  

   

 Your home address  

   

 Telephone number  

 Email Address  

 Would you like to receive your bill by secure email? Yes ☐ No ☐ 

1. Name of estate agent(s)  

2. Names of any previous agents used  

3. Date the property went on the market  

4. Current asking price £ 

5. Original asking price if different £ 

6. Dates of any price reductions  

7. Is the property advertised online, if so where?   

8. Does the property have a ‘for sale’ or ‘to let’ sign?   

9. Number of viewings so far   

10. 
Have you made any renovations or updated the 
property? If so please provide details. 

  

11. 
Have you considered renting the property? If not, why 
not? 

  

12. 
Have you taken any other steps to market or sell this 
property? 

  

 Your declaration 
 
13. 
 

I declare that the information I have provided in this form is correct and I will inform Hyndburn Borough 
Council of any change which may affect this discount within 21 days of the change. 

 Signed  Date  

 Information about our data policy can be found at www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/privacy-notice  

Page 31



 

14 
 

 
 
Council Tax 
Premium Reduction 
Application Form  
 

About this reduction 
If a property you own is currently subject to a Council Tax premium as it has been empty and unfurnished for 
more than two years, we may be able to reduce the amount you pay to 100% if the property is actively being 
marketed for sale or rent. 
 
Not all properties which are up for sale or rent will be considered to be actively marketed, for example if the 
property has an unrealistic asking price, is not being advertised or has been on the market for a long time without 
any changes to its asking price or advertising.  We will make checks and may visit properties which you tell us 
are on the market and if satisfied that you are trying to sell or rent the property, we may reduce the Council Tax 
bill. 
 

 

Where to send this form 
This form can be sent to us at: 
 
Hyndburn Borough Council 
Broadway Offices 
Accrington Town Hall 
Broadway 
Accrington 
Lancashire 
BB5 1EZ 
 
You can also drop this form in our secure post box at our Broadway Offices. 
 
You can email this form to us at enquiries@hyndburnbc.gov.uk  

 
 

Contact Us 
01254 388 111 (Monday to Friday 9-5, Wednesdays from 10am) - enquiries@hyndburnbc.gov.uk  
 
Register to view and manage your Council Tax online at www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/counciltax 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 32



 

15 
 

 

 

 

    Council Tax 
Discount Application 
Form Major Structural 
Repairs 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 Council Tax Reference  

 Account holder’s name (s)  

 Address of property undergoing repairs  

   

 Account holder’s current address  

   

 Telephone number  

 Email Address  

 Would you like to receive your bill by secure email? Yes ☐ No ☐ 

1. When did the work begin?  

2. How long do you expect the work to last?  

3. What is the estimated cost of repairs? £ 

4. 
Please outline the work being undertaken – please see 
reverse for guidance.   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Your declaration 

 
5. 
 

I declare that the information I have provided in this form is correct and I will inform Hyndburn Borough 
Council of any change which may affect this discount within 21 days of the change. I understand that 
my property may be visited in order to verify the information I have provided. 

 Signed  Date  

 

 
If you have completed this form for someone else, 
please provide your name. 

 

 What is your relationship to the applicant?  

 Your address, if different to the applicant’s  

 Information about our data policy can be found at www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/privacy-notice  

Page 33



 

16 
 

 

 
Council Tax Discount 
Application Form  

  Major Structural Repairs 
 
 
 

About this discount 
If your property is unfurnished and is undergoing structural or major repairs and nobody lives in it, you may be 
entitled to a Council Tax discount of 50% for up to 12 months. 
 
To qualify for this discount: 
 

• The property must require, or be undergoing, major repair work to make it habitable, or, 

• The property must be undergoing structural repair  
 
Structural repairs include new roofs, floors or dangerous subsidence. Cosmetic repairs are not included in this 
discount.  The property must be uninhabitable e.g. no electricity or plumbing, no kitchen or bathroom facilities 
during the major repairs.  
 
We may need to visit your property to confirm the details you have provided. 
 
If this property has already had this discount, it may not be granted and we will contact you if this is the case. 
 

 

Where to send this form 
This form can be sent to us at: 
 
Hyndburn Borough Council 
Broadway Offices 
Accrington Town Hall 
Broadway 
Accrington 
Lancashire 
BB5 1EZ 
 
You can also drop this form in our secure post box at our Broadway Offices. 
 
You can email this form to us at enquiries@hyndburnbc.gov.uk  
 

 

Contact Us 
01254 388 111 (Monday to Friday 9-5, Wednesdays from 10am) - enquiries@hyndburnbc.gov.uk  
 
Register to view and manage your Council Tax online at www.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/counciltax 

 
 

 

Page 34



 

17 
 

Appendix 3: Customer First Analysis   

Council Tax Empty Property Liability 

The Council’s response to the public sector equality duty is a comprehensive Customer First 
Analysis which has been adapted here to encompass this large project: 

 

Purpose 
• What are you trying to achieve with the policy / service / function? 

 
The fair, reasonable and consistent administration of the Council Tax Empty Property 
Liability policy 

 

• Who defines and manages it? 
 

The Council manages and defines the scheme.  The provision of a scheme nationally is 
defined through various pieces of legislation including the Local Government Finance Act 
1992 (as amended), the Local Government Finance Act 2012 and the Council Tax 
(Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992. 

 

• Who do you intend to benefit from it and how? 
 

Taxpayers liable for empty properties will benefit from the equitable administration of a 
policy. 

 

• What could prevent people from getting the most out of the scheme? 
 

Lack of awareness of the existence of any applicable discounts 
 

• How will you get your customers involved in the analysis and how will you tell people 
about it? 

 
No public consultation is intended for this policy.   
 

Evidence 
• How will you know if the policy delivers its intended outcome / benefits? 

 
Discount applications will be made.  The empty property premiums are levied in part to 
support the Council’s efforts to reduce the number of empty properties in Hyndburn – a 
reduction in empty properties would benefit the borough in general. 
 

• How satisfied are your customers and how do you know? 
 

Very few applications for reconsideration are made, fair decisions are evident. 
 

• What existing data do you have on the people that use the service and the wider 
population? 

 
We hold extensive and detailed data about our current Council Tax customer base. 
 

Page 35



 

18 
 

Data we hold includes household composition, income (including other benefits claimed), 
employment status and disability (based on benefits claimed, not medical information). 

 

• What other information would it be useful to have?  How could you get this? 
 

We could request details of protected characteristics as part of our application forms 
however we do no hold this data on our Council Tax base at large as it is not needed for the 
administration of Council Tax. 

 

• Are you breaking down data by equality groups where relevant (such as by gender, 
age, disability, ethnicity, sexual orientation, marital status, religion and belief, 
pregnancy and maternity)? 
 
Not as part of the application process. 
 

• Are you using partners, stakeholders, and councillors to get information and 
feedback? 

 
The Council’s priorities include regeneration and bringing empty properties into use – this 
policy has been formed in light of these priorities and regard has been paid to input from 
members and other services. 
 
 

Impact 
• Are some people benefiting more – or less - than others?  If so, why might this be? 
 

Landlords liable for Council Tax on long term empty properties (empty for more than two 
years) may a premium applied to their Council Tax.  The policy includes discretionary 
provision to waive this premium in order to encourage reoccupation or sale of the property 
and to take account of exceptional personal circumstances.   
 

Actions 
• If the evidence suggests that the policy / service / function benefits a particular group 

– or disadvantages another - is there a justifiable reason for this and if so, what is it? 
 

No particular group has an advantage or disadvantage as a result of this policy. 
  

• Is it discriminatory in any way? 
 

No. 
 

• Is there a possible impact in relationships or perceptions between different parts of 
the community? 
 
Long term empty properties can impact the immediate environment and community and it is 
intended that this policy will reduce the number of empty properties and as such reduce any 
associated neighbourhood issues. 

 

• What measures can you put in place to reduce disadvantages? 
 

Discretionary exemptions are available to lower or waive Council Tax empty property 
premiums. 
 

Page 36



 

19 
 

• Do you need to consult further? 
 

No. 
 

• Have you identified any potential improvements to customer service? 
 

Streamlining the administration of the scheme as well as the application is intrinsic to this 
service and improvements to customer services remain a priority. 
 

• Who should you tell about the outcomes of this analysis? 
 

This analysis will form part of our published policy and will be available publically. 
 

• Have you built the actions into your Business Plan with a clear timescale? 
 

n/a 
 

• When will this assessment need to be repeated? 
 

As and when this policy is updated. 
 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3. Minutes of Cabinet
	4. Minutes of Boards, Panels and Working Groups
	Minutes
	Minutes , 19/11/2018 Regeneration and Housing Panel

	6. Rhyddings Park Coach House Lease Update
	7. Council Tax Empty Property Liability Report

